FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/2/2025 9:02 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No.	Case #: 1037481

[Court of Appeals No. 84661-2]

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

META PLATFORMS, INC., formerly doing business as FACEBOOK, INC.,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Robert M. McKenna, WSBA No. 18327 rmckenna@orrick.com
Mark S. Parris, WSBA No. 13870 mparris@orrick.com
Aaron Paul Brecher, WSBA No. 47212 abrecher@orrick.com
ORRICK, HERRINGTON & SUTCLIFFE LLP
401 Union Street, Suite 3300
Seattle, WA 98101-2668
Telephone: +1 206 839 4300
Facsimile: +1 206 839 4301

Cesar Lopez-Morales (Pro Hac Vice

Forthcoming)

clopez-morales@orrick.com

I. INTRODUCTION

This case presents a First Amendment challenge to a campaign-finance law so overreaching and burdensome in its requirements that it has caused major digital platforms to ban political advertising in this State. The law effectively shuts down a key forum for core political speech—speech that thrives on digital platforms everywhere else in America. It also stacks the decks decisively against disempowered political actors: Washington's local, first-time, and grassroots campaigners who rely on inexpensive but highly effective digital ads to make their voices heard. One would expect a law with such extraordinarily speech-chilling effects to have a compelling justification, such as an interest that cannot be advanced otherwise. Instead, the law here entirely fails means-fit scrutiny, a clear First Amendment violation.

The Fair Campaign Practices Act ("FCPA") purports to foster an educated electorate by requiring "digital communications platforms" to maintain granular information

about any advertisement in the last five years that constitutes "political advertising," and to disclose all of this information upon request to any person or entity—anywhere in the world—within 48 hours. Even minor non-compliance results in massive liability. For example, although Meta has established a universally accessible Ad Library that indisputably discloses almost all of what the FCPA requires, the State has sought to hold Meta liable every time it fails to respond to a request for more minute details—such as whether the sponsor paid for an ad with a credit or debit card.

These requirements are so burdensome that it has become financially irrational to carry political ads in Washington. After all, a single ad might bring in as little as a dollar of revenue, but force Meta to either incur massive compliance costs or face enormous liability. The result has been unsurprising: Meta, Google, and Yahoo banned political advertising in Washington.

The First Amendment prohibits laws that chill so much core political speech. The Court of Appeals nevertheless upheld

the law as a garden-variety, campaign-finance disclosure regulation. In doing so, the Court of Appeals ignored what Most regulations burden makes this case quite different. candidates or political speakers—entities that have strong incentives to spread their message or prevail at the ballot box, and thus a greater willingness to comply with burdensome disclosure requirements. But this law burdens digital communications platforms that simply carry the ads. Unlike political actors, platforms have no incentive to incur the resulting burdens, and are thus much more likely to simply stop carrying that speech altogether. For that reason, the only other platformdisclosure law in America with comparable oriented requirements was quickly struck down on First Amendment grounds. See Washington Post v. McManus, 944 F.3d 506 (4th Cir. 2019).

The Court of Appeals neglected to explain how the State's asserted purpose—educating the electorate about political ad purchasers and their expenditures—justifies the law's burdens on

core political speech. Nor could it. The State could easily "educate its electorate" about campaign expenditures through other means—such as by requiring *political actors* (rather than digital platforms) to disclose upon request information about purchased digital ads. Such a measure would not deprive political actors of cost-effective, easy-to-use means of reaching voters. Despite the summary judgment posture, the court disregarded a record rife with disputes to conclude that the law passed constitutional muster because Meta's compliance is "technically feasible." That conclusion cannot be squared with the First Amendment's protections against overly intrusive laws regardless of whether regulated actors can comply with them.

The Court of Appeals also upheld an unconstitutionally excessive \$35 million judgment. That showstopping sum is "the largest campaign finance penalty anywhere in the country—ever." Yet it bears no relation whatsoever to Meta's alleged

-

¹ Press Release, Washington State Office of the Attorney General (Oct. 26, 2022), https://tinyurl.com/sthjsbfx

misconduct: a failure to fully and timely respond to 12 requests submitted by three individuals for information about political ads disseminated on Facebook—even as those requesters could already access almost all the required information through Meta's Ad Library. It cannot even be said that Meta concealed valuable information; some requesters conceded that they simply sought to test Meta's compliance—not inform anyone's votes.

The Court of Appeals could only reach this exorbitant sum by adopting a statutory interpretation completely unmoored from the plain language of the penalties provision. It calculated violations on a per-ad basis, and then double-counted ads covered by multiple requests to inflate the number of violations further. That transformed what should have been 12 per-request violations (at the very most) into 822 per-ad violations. The court also held that this interpretation was unambiguously compelled—despite having no basis whatsoever in the statutory language, and even as both the State and the trial court had initially concluded in the proceedings below that the provision

must be interpreted on a per-request basis.

The stakes are high. Through the law's onerous burdens and aggressive application of penalties, the State has effectively shut down a key forum for modern political communications in Washington. This Court's review is imperative.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Meta, Appellant in the Court of Appeals and Defendant in the Superior Court.

III. DECISION BELOW

The December 2, 2024, opinion of the Court of Appeals is published. *State v. Meta Platforms, Inc.*, --- P.3d ---, No. 84661-2-I, 2024 WL 4929812 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 2, 2024).

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This Petition presents the following issues for review:

1. Whether the FCPA and implementing regulations violate the First Amendment because they impose unjustifiable burdens on digital communications platforms and fail to further the State's purported interest in educating its electorate about

political ad purchasers and their expenditures through narrowly tailored means. *See* RCW 42.17A.345(1); WAC 390-18-050 (together, "disclosure law").

- 2. Whether a penalty imposed for violating the disclosure law's obligation to provide responsive information "promptly upon request" should be calculated based on the number of requests or the number of ads subject to each request.
- 3. Whether a \$35 million judgment against Meta for failing to respond to 12 requests with every piece of required information within 48 hours is an unconstitutionally excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The FCPA requires commercial advertisers to (1) collect and maintain information on "political advertising or electioneering communications" in Washington; and (2) make the information "open for public inspection." RCW 42.17A.345(1). In 2018, new regulations extended its application to "digital communication platforms" like Facebook,

and created platform-specific requirements. WAC 390-18-050 (2018). Meta operates Facebook.

Platforms must maintain a copy of the ad; name of the candidate or ballot measure; name and address of the ad's sponsor; cost; manner and date of payment; dates on which the ad was shown; demographics and statistical characteristics of the targeted and reached audiences; and number of impressions "[U]pon request," generated. WAC 390-18-050(6)-(7). platforms must provide all of this information from ads in the last five years within 48 hours. WAC 390-18-050(3). "Political advertising" encompasses anything "used for the purpose of appealing, directly or indirectly" for any support—financial or otherwise—in an electoral campaign. RCW 42.17A.005(40). Requests must be satisfied regardless of who makes them or for what purpose.

In response to the burdensome law, major digital communications platforms banned political ads from Washington. CP7449-50; Yahoo, *Ad Specs Guide*,

https://tinyurl.com/3c8rz3cx (last visited Dec. 24, 2024); Google, *Political content*, https://tinyurl.com/mrx69thr (last visited Dec. 24, 2024). Still, because Facebook uses a self-service advertising portal, unauthorized ads sometimes slip through Facebook's screening processes. CP7452.

Since 2018, to promote transparency, Meta has voluntarily maintained an Ad Library that makes key information about ads available to the public at any time, for any ad going back seven years. *See* CP8032-33. It includes the ad; the name of the candidate or ballot measure; the sponsor's name (and the address if provided); the approximate cost; the dates on which the ad ran; demographic information for the targeted and reached audiences; and the approximate number of impressions generated. CP7393-94.

The law obligates Meta to provide more granular information by email, "upon request." WAC 390-18-050(4)(b)(i). Between 2018 and 2021, Meta received requests from only three individuals: Eli Sanders, Tallman Trask, and

Zach Wurtz. *See* Op.3-4. None was made to inform the requesters' votes. *See* CP5241; 8060-61; 7580-82 (Sanders and Trask testing Meta's compliance with the law); CP38-39 (Wurtz seeking information to use for business purposes). The requests were broad—one sought "every political ad shown in Washington State since 2016," going back three years before Meta banned political ads. CP243.

The State sued Meta for failing to comply with these requests. Following cross-motions for summary judgment, the trial court ruled for the State on every single question of fact and law before it—disregarding numerous disputes of material fact. The court rejected Meta's First Amendment defense, relying on highly disputed and unsupported testimony from the State's witness that, because "Meta is already collecting" the information it must disclose, compliance would be as easy as "press[ing] a button." RP31:16-32:8. In calculating penalties, while initially agreeing with Meta that violations must be assessed per-request, RP61-63, the trial court later found 822

per-ad violations—double-counting 411 ads subject to multiple requests, CP5574-76. Even though Meta's Ad Library already includes much of the required information, the court also imposed the \$10,000 statutory maximum for each violation, awarded the State fees and costs, and trebled the judgment as punitive damages—reaching a \$35 million judgment. CP5816.

The Court of Appeals affirmed. Dismissing Meta's arguments about the content-based, speech-chilling nature of the disclosure law, the Court of Appeals rejected Meta's argument that strict scrutiny applies. Op.12-17. Purportedly applying "exacting scrutiny," the Court of Appeals held that the disclosure law's burdens were "reasonable" because Meta's compliance is "technically feasible," Op.17, 26, 34-35, adopting the trial court's one-sided interpretation of the evidence on material disputes of fact.

The Court of Appeals also embraced the trial court's perad calculation of penalties, dismissing Meta's arguments that the statute imposes liability per request or, at a minimum, must be construed narrowly under the rule of lenity, and that the fine was grossly disproportionate to any purported misconduct. Op.58-73.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Review is warranted because whether Washington's disclosure law violates the First Amendment is a significant question of law (RAP 13.4(b)(3)).

The burdens stemming from Washington's disclosure law are neither hypothetical nor disputable: Major digital communications platforms, including Meta and Google, banned political ads in the State, citing the disclosure law as the reason for doing so. Because that law contravenes fundamental First Amendment principles and federal precedent, it cannot stand.

1. Strict scrutiny applies to content-based regulations of speech. *See Reed v. Town of Gilbert*, 576 U.S. 155, 163-64, 135 S. Ct. 2218, 192 L. Ed.2d 236 (2015). The disclosure law applies *only* to political speech, requiring platforms to categorize ads as "political' and 'non-political" for "inspection or disclosure." Op.56. It clearly singles out and compels speech based on its

content. See X Corp. v. Bonta, 116 F.4th 888, 899-900 (9th Cir. 2024).

The Court of Appeals held otherwise, incorrectly reasoning that the disclosure law "attaches potential liability" to "political" ads "without regard to an ad's specific partisan or other content." Op.15. The fact that the law is non-partisan means at most that it is facially *viewpoint*-neutral—not *content*-neutral. *See Reed*, 576 U.S. at 168.

The Court of Appeals also reasoned that the disclosure law did not warrant strict scrutiny because exacting scrutiny applies to campaign-finance disclosures. *See* Op.13. But the level of scrutiny turns on the law's effects on protected speech—not disclosure labels. *See Davenport v. Washington Ed. Assn.*, 551 U.S. 177, 188-189, 127 S. Ct. 2372, 168 L. Ed.2d 71 (2007) (explaining that strict scrutiny does not apply to content discrimination where "there is no realistic possibility that official suppression of ideas is afoot").

The Court of Appeals' reasoning ignores the distinct

burdens on speech that "platform-oriented" disclosure laws impose, and that are largely absent from similar laws aimed at "direct participants in the political process." McManus, 944 F.3d at 515-516. Political actors (e.g., candidates and political committees) are more likely to bear compliance burdens when they engage in election-related speech because they have "an organic desire to succeed at the ballot box." Id. at 516. That is not true of neutral parties providing a forum for speech primarily "to raise revenue." Id. So when a law "makes certain political speech more expensive to host," the predictable result is, as happened here, that the forums simply ban political speech. Id.

This Court should intervene and hold that the law is subject to strict scrutiny, which it cannot survive.

2. Even under exacting scrutiny, governments must identify an important interest, substantially related to the law and advanced through narrowly tailored means. *See Americans for Prosperity Found. v. Bonta*, 594 U.S. 595, 611 (2021). That requires considering "less intrusive alternatives." *Id.* at 613. The

disclosure law fails that test.

In McManus, the Fourth Circuit determined that a similar, but less burdensome, law in Maryland failed exacting scrutiny. 944 F.3d at 513-515. That law instructed all digital communications platforms (including newspaper platforms) "to publish on their websites, as well as retain for state inspection, certain information about the political ads they decide to carry." Id. at 510.2 While recognizing the abstract importance of fostering an informed electorate, the court held that this interest did not justify the law's intrusive requirements that "burden[ed] too much and further[ed] too little." Id. at 520-23. The Fourth Circuit reasoned that Maryland's purpose could be accomplished "through better fitting means," like requiring disclosures from "ad purchasers directly." Id. at 523.

McManus applies here with even greater force given the comparatively heavier burdens of Washington's disclosure law.

-

² The Fourth Circuit declined to decide the appropriate level of scrutiny because the law failed exacting scrutiny, even assuming it applied. *McManus*, 944 F.3d at 520.

Maryland's law was required disclosures only in response to requests from the State, covered ads going back just one year, and required ad purchasers to notify platforms that they had posted a covered ad—sparing platforms from being forced to monitor ads to ensure compliance. *See* Md. Code Ann., Elec. Law § 13-405(a)(1), (b)(1), (b)(3), (c)(2). If those burdens were unconstitutional, Washington's much more burdensome requirements surely are as well.

To reach a different outcome than *McManus*, the Court of Appeals latched onto immaterial factual distinctions. First, it noted that *McManus* involved newspaper platforms. Op.45-47. But Maryland's law also targeted platforms like Google and Facebook. *McManus*, 944 F.3d at 510-511, 516-517, 522. And the U.S. Supreme Court recognizes that "major social-media-platforms" exercise editorial judgment just like newspaper "editors, cable operators, and parade organizers." *Moody v. NetChoice, LLC*, 603 U.S. 707, 738, 144 S. Ct. 2383, 219 L. Ed.2d 1075 (2024). There is no meaningful difference between

advertising platforms operated by newspapers and other companies that would alter the First Amendment analysis.

The Court of Appeals also pointed out that Maryland's law, unlike Washington's, required platforms to publish certain information about political ads on their websites. But in *McManus*, the inspection requirements in Maryland's law were deemed constitutionally problematic on their own. *See* 944 F.3d at 514-515, 518-519.

b. Critically, nobody—not the State, the trial court, nor the Court of Appeals—has explained why the disclosure requirements here are narrowly tailored to vindicate the State's asserted interest in an educated electorate. The disclosure law thus chills significantly more speech than is justified.

No one disputes, for example, the State could simply require ad sponsors themselves to maintain and disclose the requisite information—as the law, in part, does already. *See* RCW 42.17A.260(3). The State could also mitigate the law's burdens by, for example, requiring ad purchasers to notify digital

communications platforms when they post political ads; or limiting disclosure requirements to ads disseminated 21 days before an election. *See* RCW 42.17A.260(1)(a).

Yet the Court of Appeals hardly considered whether the law's burdens were "reasonable" in light of its purpose, as exacting scrutiny requires. *McCutcheon v. Fed. Election Comm'n*, 572 U.S. 185, 218, 134 S. Ct. 1434, 188 L. Ed.2d 468 (2014) (plurality opinion). Instead, the Court of Appeals concluded that the law is constitutional because Meta "can comply," and merely "refuse[d]" to do so based on its "corporate priorities." Op.30, 35 (emphasis added). That view was mistaken twice over.

To start, Meta offered extensive evidence of the difficulties of screening all ads to identify those covered by the law (since purchasers are not required to flag them when placing them on the platform), and of establishing procedures to ensure information-maintenance and disclosure compliance. *See, e.g.*, CP7859; CP7887 & n.127; CP8370-71. The Court of Appeals'

conclusion that the evidence "only shows" that compliance would be straightforward, Op.35 (emphasis added), turned a blind eye to the heavily contested record. That was highly inappropriate in a summary judgment posture. See Jones v. Allstate Ins. Co., 146 Wn.2d 291, 300-01, 45 P.3d 1068 (2002).

More importantly, the court's focus on "technically feasible" compliance is misplaced. Op.34-35. First Amendment analysis does not hinge on whether regulated actors *can* comply with a law, but on whether the "fit" is "reasonable" in light of the existence of less intrusive alternatives. If the State's interests could be vindicated through less burdensome (and thus better fitting) means, the law is unconstitutional—regardless of whether compliance is conceivably possible. *See McManus*, 944 F.3d at 516, 523.

Indeed, it defies common sense to conclude that the disclosure law is narrowly tailored to further the State's interest in educating the electorate when the law has the opposite effect.

By making it "financially irrational" for digital communications

platforms to disseminate political advertising, *McManus*, 944 F.3d at 516, the law has caused them to ban political ads entirely. Shutting down a forum where political speech once thrived counterproductively deprives the electorate of valuable information. *See infra* §§ I.C.

This Court should intervene to vindicate the First Amendment's protections against the State's speech-chilling law.³

B. Review is warranted because the Court of Appeals' baseless interpretation of the penalties provision led to an extraordinarily excessive fine, raising significant constitutional questions and issues of substantial public importance (RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4)).

The Court of Appeals upheld an astounding \$35 million judgment against Meta for not responding fully and within 48 hours to 12 requests from three individuals. That is almost double the amount of the penalties levied in what the State

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