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

IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD 
DENY REVIEW 

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied Precedent to 
Uphold the FCPA 

1. Disclosure cases apply exacting scrutiny 

The Court of Appeals faithfully applied precedent from 

this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court holding that disclosure 
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laws are subject to exacting scrutiny—not strict scrutiny as Meta 

seeks to impose. Meta ignores a wall of precedent to argue the 

FCPA is subject to strict scrutiny because it is supposedly a 

content-based regulation that applies only to “political speech.” 

See Pet.12. The Court of Appeals soundly rejected this argument 

and the inapposite cases on which Meta relies; none applied strict 

scrutiny to a disclosure requirement. See Op.15 (“[Meta’s] 

argument flies in the face of each federal and state case reviewed 

herein, all of which dealt with ‘political topics’ and none of 

which deemed such a disclosure to be ‘content-based’ 

regulation.). 

This is because election-related disclosure requirements 

impose no ceiling on campaign-related activities and do not 

prevent anyone from speaking. Disclosure requirements are 

considered a “less restrictive alternative to more comprehensive 

regulations of speech,” and are therefore subject to the less 

intense standard of constitutional review, exacting scrutiny. 

Citizens United v. FEC, 558 U.S. 310, 369 (2010). 
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The exacting scrutiny standard follows decades of 

precedent. See, e.g., Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 68 (1976); 

Citizens United, 558 U.S. at 366-67 (disclosure requirement for 

TV political ads); John Doe No. 1 v. Reed, 561 U.S. 186, 202 

(2010); Hum. Life of Wash. Inc. v. Brumsickle, 624 F.3d 990, 

1005 (9th Cir. 2010) (campaign finance disclosure requirement); 

Family PAC v. McKenna, 685 F.3d 800, 805-06 (9th Cir. 2012). 

Exacting scrutiny requires a law be narrowly tailored to serve a 

sufficiently important governmental interest. Ams. for Prosperity 

Found. v. Bonta, 594 U.S. 595, 608 (2021). Narrow tailoring 

“require[s] a fit that is not necessarily perfect, but reasonable[.]” 

Id. at 609 (cleaned up). 

Exacting scrutiny continues to apply even when disclosure 

requirements rest on a third party, including one that hosts 

political advertising. See McConnell v. FEC, 540 U.S. 93, 234-37 

(2003), overruled in part on other grounds by Citizens United, 

558 U.S. 310 (upholding recordkeeping and public inspection 

obligation imposed on third-party broadcasters under exacting 
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scrutiny); Reed, 561 U.S. at 191 (applying exacting scrutiny to 

uphold a Washington Public Records Act requirement that 

compelled the state (a neutral third party) to produce referendum 

petition forms revealing information about the supporters). 

The Court of Appeals relied on well-settled law in holding 

exacting scrutiny applied. Op.12-17. 

2. The FCPA readily satisfies exacting scrutiny 

The FCPA undisputedly promotes important state 

interests. The Court of Appeals correctly applied federal and 

state precedent to identify those interests: “the need to timely 

inform the electorate about who is expending money to influence 

an election in our state and how that money is being spent.” 

Op.18. Courts routinely recognize these as important and even 

compelling government interests. See, e.g., Brumsickle, 624 F.3d 

at 1005-08; State v. Evergreen Freedom Found., 192 Wn.2d 782, 

799 (2019); Reed, 561 U.S. at 197-99. 

The FCPA’s requirements are substantially related to these 

important government interests. See CP6344-59, 6366-67, 
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6369-71, 6421-29. Information about sponsorship, targeting, and 

reach inform voters about a political ad’s intent, meaning, and 

impact, including if the ad intends to mobilize or demobilize 

through tactics like fear mongering or misinformation. Id. The 

State’s experts testified about the unique role of digital 

advertising, which can be tailored precisely and ephemerally to 

users based on private information the platform has on 

individuals. Id. And a message can have different meanings if 

targeted at different groups of people. See CP6604-05 (ads about 

women’s gun programs targeted to men), 6351-52 (ads about 

increased Black home ownership rates targeted to conservative, 

white district), 6425-26 (ads can be used to mobilize supporters 

or demobilize non-supporters). This information allows the 

public to understand ads and to see who political spenders are 

trying to influence. The FCPA acknowledges the importance of 

precisely this type of information, which provides the public 

“with the information with which to assess the various messages 
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vying for their attention in the marketplace of ideas.” Brumsickle, 

624 F.3d at 1008. 

In addition, the law’s disclosure requirements are 

substantially related to and narrowly tailored to achieve their 

purposes. The FCPA serves an essential role in achieving the 

State’s important interests in election integrity and transparency 

by requiring timely and detailed information disclosures about 

advertisement expenditures, which facilitates an informed 

electorate by making it easier to access information about a 

specific ad the public may have seen. The FCPA recognizes that 

the public must know through disclosure the communications’ 

source and the State’s ability to enforce campaign finance laws 

(through tracing payments, their amount, and contacting 

sponsors). 

Providing access to information about who paid and how 

much was paid for a political ad furthers the important interests 

of educating voters and preventing corruption. CP6344-59, 

6366-67, 6369-71, 6421-29. This information helps voters 
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understand who is behind a particular ad and how much money 

they are spending to influence their vote. Id. Information about 

payment method also allows voters to appropriately weigh the 

messages they see.2 

Meta repeats the same arguments the Court of Appeals 

rejected about why the law isn’t narrowly tailored, but no 

evidence supports those arguments. 

For example, while Meta claims that some of the 

information it must disclose would already be disclosed by 

others, those other disclosures often provide no information 

about where or how money was spent, let alone the specific 

advertisement the money purchased. Many advertisers use 

intermediaries, such as brokers, digital marketplaces, and 

advertising services to purchase political advertisements. 

 
2 Russian interference in the 2016 election has been linked 

to a trail of ruble payments. Testimony of Colin Stretch, General 
Counsel, Facebook, Hearing Before the U.S. Senate Committee 
on the Judiciary Subcommittee on Crime and Terrorism (Oct. 31, 
2017), https://www.judiciary.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/10-31-
17%20Stretch%20Testimony.pdf. 

https://www.judiciary.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/10-31-17%20Stretch%20Testimony.pdf
https://www.judiciary.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/10-31-17%20Stretch%20Testimony.pdf
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CP6722-23, 7115-16, 7212-20. Advertisers might not know the 

required information or be able to disclose it as quickly as the 

immediacy and flexibility of digital media advertising demands, 

particularly during the period when Washington voters cast their 

ballots. CP5329-78, 6724, 7116. 

Finally, the Court of Appeals rightly disposed of Meta’s 

arguments regarding its First Amendment defense and the 

purported undue burden it posed, deeming that contention 

“speculative” and lacking “specificity” despite years of 

discovery. Op.35 (citation omitted).3 Based on its scrupulous 

review of the record, the Court of Appeals explained: “Meta’s 

argument fails to quantify how ‘significant’ the revisions to the 

algorithm would be, how much more ‘time and resources’ it 

 
3 Meta’s complaint that it is too difficult to determine what 

constitutes a Washington political ad is untenable where Meta’s 
own ad policies and use of political advertisement categories in 
its Ad Library demonstrate that Meta already knows how to and 
does identify political ads based on a definition. Meta’s broader 
definition for “issues, elections, [and] politics” includes 
Washington political ads, which means that Meta could maintain 
records for a broader set than technically required. CP7371-76. 
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would take for human review, or even how much any change in 

its practices would cost.” Op.35. The Court of Appeals also 

correctly held that “none of Meta’s cited evidence indicates that 

it cannot comply; rather, the evidence only shows, as the State 

phrases it, that it would be inconsistent with Meta’s corporate 

priorities to do so.” Id. 

In sum, the Court of Appeals correctly recognized the 

State’s important interest in ensuring transparency in elections 

and that the FCPA has been crafted to promote that purpose. 

3. The Court of Appeals correctly distinguished 
McManus 

The Court of Appeals rightly determined that  

Washington Post v. McManus, 944 F.3d 506 (4th Cir. 2019), is 

not controlling. Op.44-47. In distinguishing McManus, the  

Court of Appeals explained that the case was predicated in part 

on the challenged Maryland law forcing news outlets to publish 

certain information on their websites and set forth no discernable 

limits on the ability of government to supervise operations of 
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newsrooms. Op.46. The Court of Appeals then wrote that in 

contrast “Meta differs significantly from a newspaper” because 

Meta does not “exercise[] editorial control over the content” and 

as such Washington’s law with respect to Meta involves “[n]o 

such editorial entanglement . . . . ” Op.46-47. The Court of 

Appeals also emphasized that the FCPA, unlike the Maryland 

statute in McManus, does not compel any public display by 

newspapers or any other entity, but instead allows a variety of 

options for sharing required information with individual 

requestors. Id. 

In short, McManus is inapposite and doesn’t create a 

conflict to warrant this Court’s review. 

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Held that Violations 
of the FCPA Are Assessed Per Ad—Not Per Request 

The real thrust of Meta’s argument about penalties is about 

the statutory application of the FCPA—not the  

Eighth Amendment. See Pet. 20-27. The Court of Appeals 

correctly looked to the plain language of the FCPA and the 



 19 

statutory scheme as whole to affirm the superior court’s decision 

to assess a violation for each ad that Meta failed to maintain or 

provide required records on, rather than limit the violations to 

just one per request regardless of the numbers of ads involved. 

This meant the trial court was correct to find Meta violated the 

law 822 times, covering the ads within the 12 requests for which 

full information was not disclosed. The trial court’s finding is 

supported by text, the statutory scheme as a whole, and common 

sense. 

First, looking to the FCPA’s text, the law requires 

commercial advertisers to “maintain current books of account 

and related material[]” that shall remain “open” for public 

inspection. RCW 42.17A.345(1) (emphasis added). As the Court 

of Appeals observed, this obligation does not contain any 

requirement that anyone actually requests to inspect such 

records. Op.61. The PDC’s regulation further underscores this 

requirement by requiring current books of account to “be updated 

within 24 hours of the time when an advertisement or 
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communication initially has been publicly distributed or 

broadcast[.]” WAC 390-18-050(3). The FCPA also requires that 

commercial advertisers be prepared to share this information 

with the PDC, “even if the PDC never actually demands such 

records or requests.” Op.61 (citing RCW 42.17A.345(2)). The 

plain language of the FCPA plates “discrete serial obligation[s]” 

on commercial advertisers to ensure they preserve and maintain 

records for inspection for political ads—which is “distinct from 

any individual request for such disclosure . . . . ” Op.62.  

Second, as the Court of Appeals noted, the FCPA 

commands that its provisions be “liberally construed” “so as to 

assure continuing public confidence of fairness of elections and 

governmental processes, and so as to assure that the public 

interest will be fully protected.” RCW 42.17A.001; see also 

RCW 42.17A.904. Courts, including this one, routinely apply 

liberal construction to interpret the FCPA. See State v.  

Grocery Mfrs. Ass’n, 195 Wn.2d 442, 454 (2020) (GMA I);  

State v. Eyman, 24 Wn. App. 2d 795, 817 (2022). The Court of 
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Appeals was right to conclude that assessing penalties per ad is 

the better reading of the FCPA to further it purposes. 

See Op.62-63. 

Meta’s argument that the Court of Appeals’ rejection of 

the rule of lenity violates due process lacks merit. See Op.65-66. 

The rule of lenity does not apply because, as discussed above, 

there is no ambiguity in the law and both the Legislature and 

courts have made clear that the FCPA be liberally construed. 

Finally, Meta’s hypothetical is inapt. Pet.23-24. 

Comparing a newspaper that refuses one hundred requests for 

information about the same highly inflammatory ad to a digital 

platform refusing to respond to one request seeking sponsor 

mailing information on multiple ads ignores the considerable 

discretion trial courts have to impose penalties and determine 

whether the violations are intentional. See RCW 42.17A.750. 

Instead, take the scenario where a requestor makes a consolidated 

request for all required information to a digital platform for  

100 ads and makes a later request for one ad, and the advertiser 
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failed to provide demographic information for both requests. 

Under Meta’s proposed interpretation, that failure to produce 

required information for the one hundred ads would be treated no 

more severely than a failure to produce required information for 

the one covered ad. Yet in the former scenario, “a requestor 

would need only file a separate request for each individual 

advertisement, which would easily circumvent Meta's proposed 

legislative intent.” Op.64. 

The trial court’s imposition of penalties per ad is justified 

by statutory text and implementing regulations and the statutory 

scheme as a whole; it does not warrant this Court’s review. 

C. Meta Waived Its Excessive Fines Clause Argument, 
Which Fails in Any Event 

The Court of Appeals correctly held that Meta waived its 

argument that the penalty violated the Excessive Fines Clause. 

Op.73 n.37. Below, Meta failed to identify this issue as 

pertaining to an assignment of error. See Am. Appellant’s 

Opening Br. at 9-10. Meta’s 75-page opening brief gave a three-
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sentence nod to the Excessive Fines Clause by cursorarily citing 

United States v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998). See id. 73-74. 

Meta failed to include any specific discussion of the two 

principles and four factors analyzed in Bajakajian or any 

application of the facts of this case to those principles and factors. 

Id. And when the State pointed this waiver out, Meta wholly 

ignored the Excessive Fines Clause issue on reply, devoting zero 

words to the issue. See Resp’t’s Br. at 74-76; see generally 

Appellant’s Reply Br. 

Given Meta’s “[p]assing treatment of an issue” and “lack 

of reasoned argument,” the Court of Appeals was right to 

consider the argument no further. Op.73 n.37; see also  

RAP 10.3(a)(6) (an appellant’s brief should contain “argument 

in support of the issues presented for review, together with 

citations to legal authority and references to relevant parts of the 

record”). This Court should not countenance Meta’s strategic 

decision not to adequately brief the issue on appeal and should 

consider the issue no further by declining to review it. Cf. In re 



 24 

Tobin, 165 Wn.2d 172, 175 n.1 (2008) (noting Supreme Court 

will not consider issues not raised in the Court of Appeals);  

US W. Commc’ns, Inc. v. Wash. Utilities & Transp. Comm’n,  

134 Wn.2d 74, 112 (1997), as amended (Mar. 3, 1998) (“Only 

issues raised in the assignments of error, or related issues, and 

argued to the appellate court are considered on appeal.”) (citation 

omitted). 

But even if Meta had preserved its Excessive Fines Clause 

challenge, it still would not have presented a significant 

constitutional question worthy of this Court’s review. The 

decision below accords with precedent from this Court and the 

plain text of the statute. 

First, the trial court’s assessment of the maximum 

statutory penalty against Meta for intentionally violating the 

FCPA over 800 times is consistent with controlling precedent. 

This Court rejected an excessive fines challenge to an  

$18 million campaign finance penalty in State v. Grocery 

Manufacturers Association, 198 Wn.2d 888 (2022) (GMA II). In 
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that case, this Court applied the principles and factors identified 

in Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321, to hold that the penalty was not 

grossly disproportionate to the defendant’s conduct. This Court 

gave significant weight to the importance of open and transparent 

elections served by Washington campaign finance laws—

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